#### BY-LAWS

OF

# ILLINOIS TRACK AND CROSS COUNTRY COACHES ASSOCIATION (A not for profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Illinois.)

# ARTICLE I NAME AND INCORPORATION

- Section 1. Name. The name of this organization shall be "Illinois Track and Cross Country Coaches Association." Hereafter in these By-Laws the organization may be referred to as the "Association" or "ITCCCA."
- <u>Section 2</u>. <u>Nature</u>. The Association shall be a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Illinois; and, its purpose shall be educational, recreational and charitable.
- Section 3. Location. The principal offices of the Association shall be at 28950 Rivers Edge Drive, Cary, Illinois.
- Section 4. Mission. It is the mission of the Association to represent the concerns of schools, coaches, and athletes of our state regarding issues pertaining to track and cross country in the state of Illinois and to present these issues to the Illinois High School Association (IHSA). The Association will work with the IHSA to continue to enhance the sports of track and cross country in the state of Illinois. The Association will provide educational opportunities for all coaches in the Association by conducting workshops and clinics to accomplish this mission.
- <u>Section 5.</u> <u>Purposes.</u> The purposes of the Association as stated in its Articles of Incorporation are:
- (A) To be organized and operated exclusively for educational, recreational, civic and charitable purposes, all as contemplated and permitted by Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, and in connection therewith exclusively for the welfare and benefit of the track and cross country coaches and affiliates who are located in Illinois (hereinafter referred to as the "Association Community" or "ITCCCA") to assist in the performance of the educational, recreational and charitable purposes of the Association Community, by providing funds and property for educational, recreational and charitable purposes for which funds may not otherwise be available to the Association

Community.

- (B) Within the framework and limitations of these purposes:
- (i) to promote interest, enthusiasm, and improvement in track and cross country in Illinois, to provide education and the opportunity for involvement for every coach in our Association by holding workshops and clinics using coaches who have special talent areas or methodology, to promote, publicize, and recognize the achievements of our athletes and coaches, to represent the interests of schools, coaches, and athletes in our Association on rule changes in track and cross country to the Illinois High School Association, to provide a voice representing the needs and interests of the Association Community in any decisions regarding track and cross country in the state of Illinois and to work with and support the Illinois High School Association;
- (ii) to receive and hold or disburse gifts; to act without profits as trustee of educational, recreational or charitable trusts; to administer gifts, grants or loans of money or property, real or personal, whether made by public governmental, educational, or recreational bodies, local, state or national, or by corporations or natural persons, and whether in the form of conventional express trusts or otherwise; to become a party to contracts, trust instruments and agreements of any type or description and to execute negotiable instruments as trustee or otherwise; to execute negotiable obligations, as trustee or otherwise in order to effectuate either the creation or organization of trusts for the execution of the purpose hereof. Where the terms and conditions imposed by the donors of any forms of gifts make immediate transfer to entities other than the Association right and proper, the Association shall transfer absolutely and in full all right, title to an interest in such property transferred, assigned or conveyed by any and all persons whatsoever, whether such property be in the form of money, real or personal property, to or for the use and benefit of the specified entity, subject to said terms and conditions of said donors and subject also to the right of the specified entity to refuse such proffered gifts, if conditions attached thereto be deemed unsatisfactory or unacceptable. Whenever any such gift, when made as memorials, involve maintenance, provision for such maintenance shall be included in the gift unless this requirement is waived by the Board of Directors of the Association; and
- (iii) to do such other acts and undertake such other enterprises as in the judgement of the Board of Directors

of the Association shall tend to promote the interests and welfare of the Association Community.

(C) To make contributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under that Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.

#### Section 6. General Provisions.

- (A) No part of the net earnings of the Association shall inure to the benefit of, or be distributable to its directors, officers, or other private persons, except that the Association shall be authorized and empowered to pay reasonable compensation for services rendered and to make payments and distributions in furtherance of its purposes. No substantial part of the activities of the Association shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation, and the Association shall not participate in, or intervene in (including publishing of distribution of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate for pubic office. Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the Association shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on (a) by a corporation exempt from federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 or (b) by a corporation, contributions to which are deductible under Section 170 (c)(2) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.
- (B) Upon the dissolution of the Association, the Board of Directors shall, after paying or making provision for the payment of all of the liabilities of the Association, dispose of all of the assets of the Association exclusively for the purposes of the Association in such manner, or to such organization or organizations organized and operated exclusively for charitable, literary, scientific educational or recreational purposes as shall at the time qualify as an exempt organization or organizations under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 as the Board of Directors shall determine. Any such assets not so disposed of shall be disposed of by the Circuit Court of McHenry County, Illinois, exclusively for such purposes or to such organization or organizations, as said Court shall determine, which are organized and operated exclusively for such purposes.
- (C) The Association shall distribute its income for each tax year at such time and in such manner as not to become subject to the tax on undistributed income imposed by Section 4942 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954. Further, the Association shall not engage in any act of self-dealing as defined in Section 4941

- (d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 nor retain any excess business holdings as defined in Section 4943(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, nor make any investments in such manner as to incur tax liability under Section 4944 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, nor make any taxable expenditures as defined in Section 4945 (d) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954.
- (D) All references in these By-Laws to particular sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954 shall mean and include, as now enacted or as hereafter amended, such section and any provision of Federal law as is or may be hereafter be applicable.

# ARTICLE II BOARD OF DIRECTORS

<u>Section 1</u>. The regular membership of the Board of Directors shall consist of:

Ten to thirteen(10-13) Association Community members for the offices set forth in the List of Director offices attached hereto. In the event of a vacancy in this category, the current President of the Association shall appoint a four (4) person nominating committee which shall seek to nominate, from the Association Community, those who can best provide effective and dynamic leadership. To the extent possible, the nominating committee shall consist of four (4) current directors of the Association.

In its evaluation, the committee may consider all relevant factors, including, but not limited to, standing in the community, relevant educational, recreational, business or practical experiences, and past contributions to the Association and/or the Association Community. A majority vote of the Board of Directors shall be required to elect a nominated candidate to a position on the Board.

Section 2. Election of Directors. At each annual meeting of the Board of Directors there shall be directors described in Section 1 of this ARTICLE II. At least two (2) months prior to the annual meeting, the President shall appoint a nominating committee to nominate candidates for the positions described in Section 1. The nominating committee shall use the criteria heretofore described in nominating candidates for election to full terms on the Board.

Section 3. Term and Qualification. All directors shall serve terms of two years or until the first to occur of their resignation, voluntary withdrawal from the Community, death or removal for cause.

- Five (5) of the initial Board members elected pursuant to Section 1 of this ARTICLE II shall hold their term of office for one (1) year. Thereafter, all such board members shall serve terms of two (2) year. Any person elected pursuant to Section 1 may serve multiple terms.
- Section 4. Power and Duties. The Board of Directors shall manage the affairs of the Association, and shall exercise all of its powers, consistent with these By-Laws and applicable state and federal laws.
- Section 5. Removal or Resignation of Directors.

  Any director may be removed for cause by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, upon notice of charges against that director given in writing by the President or Secretary, at least twenty (20) days before action on his removal is taken. The resignation of a director for any reason may be accepted by a majority vote of the Board of Directors.
- Section 6. <u>Vacancies</u>. Any vacancy occurring in the Board of Directors shall be filled as provided in Section 1 of this Article II. A director so appointed to fill a vacancy shall be appointed for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office.
- Section 7. Regular Meetings. There shall be at least three (3) regular meetings of the Board of Directors annually, including one annual meeting. The Board of Directors may provide by resolution the time and place for the holding of the additional regular meetings of the Board and the Secretary shall give notice by first class mail of said additional meetings.
- Section 8. Annual Meetings. The annual meeting of the Directors shall be held on the second Monday of January. If such day be a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held at the same hour on the next succeeding Monday or on some other day designated by the Board of Directors.
- Section 9. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by the President at his discretion, and must be called by the President on the written request of three (3) or more members of the Board of Directors. Special meetings shall be called at any reasonable time and place determined by the President, but no later than (2) weeks after such request for a meeting has been received by the President or within such time as is necessary for the President to receive approval of the date of meeting from the directors.

Section 10. Notice. Notice of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given by written notice delivered personally or sent by mail, fax or e-mail to each director at the director's address as shown by the records of the Association not sooner than three (3) days prior to the date of any such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail in a sealed envelope so addressed, with postage thereon prepaid. If notice be given by fax or e-mail, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered the day the fax or e-mail is transmitted to the director. Any director may waive notice of any meeting. Insofar as practicable the subject or subjects to be considered at any special meeting shall be specified in the notice, but subjects not so specified may nevertheless be considered and acted upon at such meetings.

Section 11. Quorum. Except as otherwise provided by the By-Laws, all actions of the Board of Directors shall be determined by a majority vote. A majority vote is defined as a majority of the quorum. At the annual meeting, a majority of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. At all other meetings, one-third (1/3) of the members of the Board shall constitute a quorum. In the absence of a quorum no legal action can be taken unless such action later is approved by letter or other vote of record by sufficient additional members of the Board to constitute a quorum.

Section 12. Place of Meeting. If no designation is made, the place of the meeting shall be the principal offices of the Association in the State of Illinois.

Section 13. Committees of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall have full power to constitute such committees as it deems necessary or desirable to advise or assist it is the transaction of the business of the corporation. The members of such committees need not be Directors of the corporation. Each such committee shall have only the authority and responsibility which is expressly delegated to it by the Board of Directors at the time the committee is organized or from time to time thereafter.

### ARTICLE III OFFICERS

Section 1. Officers. The officers of the Association shall be a President, Vice-President, a Treasurer, a Secretary and such other officers as may be elected in accordance with the provisions of this article. The Board of Directors may

elect or appoint such other officer, including one or more assistant secretaries and one or more assistant treasurers, as it shall deem desirable, such officers to have the authority and perform the duties prescribed, from time to time, by the Board of Directors. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person except the offices of President and Secretary. Any officer may also be a Director.

Section 2. Election and Term of Office. The officers of the Association shall be elected for a term of two years by the Board of Directors at any regular annual meeting of the Board of Directors. If the election of officers shall not be held at such meeting, such election shall be held as soon thereafter as is convenient. Vacancies may be filled or new offices created and filled at any regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors. Each officer shall hold office until his successor shall have been duly elected and shall have qualified.

Section 3. Removal. Any officer may be removed for cause by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, provided that such officer shall have been notified in writing by the President or Secretary not less than twenty (20) days before such meeting of such charges as may be preferred against him by the majority of the Board of Directors.

<u>Section 4</u>. <u>Vacancies</u>. A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification or otherwise, may be filled by the Board of Directors for the unexpired portion of the term.

Section 5. President. The President shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors. The President may sign, with the Secretary or any other proper officer of the Association authorized by the Board of Directors, any deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board of Directors has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board of Directors or by these By-Laws or by statute to some other officer or agent of the Association; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of President and such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board of Directors from time to time.

Section 6. <u>Vice-President</u>. In the absence of the President or in the event of the President's inability or unavailability to act, the Vice-President shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the

President. Any Vice-President shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Vice-President by the President or by the Board of Directors. The Vice-President is the President elect and shall become the President after the current President's term expires.

Section 7. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have charge and custody of and be responsible for all funds and securities of the Association; receive and give receipts for moneys due and payable to the Association from any source whatsoever, and deposit all such moneys in the name of the Association in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as shall be selected in accordance with the provisions of ARTICLE VII of these By-Laws; and in general perform all the duties incident to the office of treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to the Treasurer by the President or by the Board of Directors.

Section 8. Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors in one or more books provided for that purpose; see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws or as required by law; be custodian of the Association's records; properly execute all documents duly authorized by the Association in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws; keep a register of the post office address of each member which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such member; and in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the President or by the Board of Directors.

Section 9. Surety Bonds. All officers and employees of the Association who handle Association funds shall furnish adequate surety bonds to be approved by the Board of Directors of the Association. The cost of all surety bonds shall be paid by the Association. The Board may waive requirement of a surety bond.

The Treasurer shall furnish a surety bond in favor of the Association for an amount approved by the Board of Directors. It shall be renewable from year to year. The cost of the surety bond shall be paid by the Association.

# ARTICLE IV MEMBERS

As required by the Illinois Not-For-Profit Corporation Act, these By-Laws expressly state that the Association shall be

solely governed by the Board of Directors as provided herein. Membership shall be voluntary and is available to all those in the Association Community who pay the annual membership fee. Members shall only have voting rights in the election of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE V
TRACK & CROSS COUNTRY AWARDS, RECOGNITION AND CLINICS

The following awards, recognition and clinics are sponsored and offered by ITCCCA:

ITCCCA Athlete of the Year — Illinois Track & Cross Country Coaches Association awards Athlete of the Year to honor Illinois Track & Cross Country athletes who have demonstrated remarkable achievements that are in the ITCCCA boundaries. At least three males and three females will receive this award annually. Plaques will be awarded in the categories of : sprints, field and distance. The recipients are selected by a committee of coaches and media who are members of the track & field and cross country community.

ITCCCA Coach of the Year - Each year the top ITCCCA Boys and Girls Head Coaches in A, AA, & AAA Cross- Country and in A, AA & AAA Track & Field are voted on before the ITCCCA January Track Clinic by the ITCCCA membership. The teams which highest places at the respective State Meet will have the head coach placed on the ballot. The coaches with the nost votes are named "Coach of the Year."

ITCCCA Assistant Coach Award - This award should be considered for thoses assistant coaches in Track or Cross Country in ITCCCA who have demonstrated their expertise over the life of their careers. The nominee must have a minimum of 10 years as an assistant coach (the years do not need to be at the same school). Hall of Fame coaches are not eligible to win this award. There will be a maximum of five awards given each year. This is a once in a career award.

ITCCCA Scholarships - These scholarships are awarded to at least two Senior Track & Field or Cross Country athletes in the ITCCCA boundaries. Many years have seen four athletes receive the award. There is a form to fill out and an essay to be written. This form is available on the ITCCCA website.

ITCCCA Hall of Fame - Established in 1977 to honor men and women who have made a significant contribution to the sports of Track & Field and Cross Country in the State Of Illinois. In order to

receive consideration of the Hall of Fame Executive Committee, the candidate must have coached for at least 20 years in Track & Field and /or Cross Country, and some of those years must have been in Illinois. A permanent Hall of Fame Committee, headed by two co-chairs, and composed of at least 12 Hall of Fame Coaches, meets each October to elect a maximum of seven new members. If a candidate is not selected the first year their name remains in nomination for five years. After five years, the candidate may be re-nominated for consideration.

ITCCCA Distinguished Service Award - Established in 1992 to honor men and women who are neither coaches nor athletes but who have made a significant contribution to the sports of Track & Field and/or Cross Country in the State of Illinois. There is no minimum number of years or candidates each year. Candidates could include, but not be limited to: officials, reporters, athletic directors & physicians.

ITCCCA Distinguished Middle School Coach Award - Established in 2019 to honor men and women who have made a significant contribution to the sports of Track & Field and Cross Country in the State of Illinois at the Middle School level. A person must have served at least 10 years in a coaching capacity of Track & Field and/or Cross Country at the Middle School level in Illinois. This award may only be received one time by an individual. A coach must be nominated using the available form. The nominations will be discussed at the annual Committee meeting, which consists of at least 12 coaches. A maximum of 2 new coaches will be recognized each year.

Mid-East Cross Country Championships - Traditionally held in Kettering, Ohio, either 1 or 2 weeks after the IHSA State Cross Country Meet. This Meet features the finest senior boys and girls from Ohio, Indiana, Michigan, and Illinois. Selections will be based on results of the IHSA State Cross Country Meet.

ITCCCA Track and Field Clinic - Traditionally held the 2nd Saturday of January at the Westin Hotel in Lombard.

ITCCCA 'Learn-By-Doing' Clinics- specific dates and location to be determined by the Board of Directors.

#### ARTICLE VI FINANCES/MANAGEMENT

Section 1. The Board of Directors shall, from time to time, set policies and conditions for the receipt of, holding, management, insurance protection or safeguarding of or the

disposition of cash, tangible and intangible property, chooses in action, real property (and improvements thereon) and interests therein as are reasonably consistent with the purposes of the Organization.

Section 2. Auditing of Accounts. The Board of Directors may appoint certified public accountants to audit the accounts of the Association.

Section 3. Annual Report. The Treasurer shall keep, or supervise the keeping of, the accounts of the Association in such form as shall be deemed advisable by the Board of Directors, and shall submit an annual report to the Board at the annual meeting, as well as such other reports as may be required of him by the Board of Directors and shall make said reports available for public inspection at the Association office.

Section 4. Operating Finances. The President or his designee shall prepare an annual budget to be approved by the Board of Directors. The President or his designee shall make all purchases and contractual expenditures for the Association, except as otherwise specifically directed by the Board of Directors. When practicable and reasonable under the circumstances, the President or his designee shall make such purchases and expenditures after considering competitive prices, by bid or otherwise, in the light of quality, suitability and other relevant factors. Proposed asset purchases and contractual expenditures in excess of \$500 per year per payee shall be submitted to the Board of Directors for approval prior to being made.

# ARTICLE VII AMENDMENTS OF BY-LAWS AND CHARTER

Section 1. Amendments. The By-Laws of the Association may be amended by a majority vote of all Directors of the Association at any regular or special meeting of the Board, provided notice of the character of the proposed have been given to the Directors at least twenty (20) days before such amendment is voted upon.

<u>Section 2</u>. <u>Copy of By-Laws</u>. The Secretary of the Association shall at all times keep in the office of the Association a true and correct copy of the By-Laws.

ARTICLE VIII

#### FUNDS AND INVESTMENTS

Section 1. Savings, Checking Accounts and Securities. The Treasurer shall deposit all funds and register securities and other registerable property belonging to the Association in the name of the Association. Deposits may be made in either savings, checking or other accounts, as Treasurer may consider advisable so long as the deposits are Federally insured. Deposits may be made only in depositories that have been approved previously by the Board of Directors. Checks in any amount shall be drawn by and signed by the Treasurer or by the Board of Directors' authorized deputies.

Section 2. Purchase or Sale of Assets. The Treasurer, when directed by the Board of Directors, shall sell assets owned by the Association and deposit the proceeds as provided in Section 1 next above or invest the proceeds as required by the Board of Directors. Available amounts in the checking and savings accounts shall be invested from time to time by the Treasurer as directed by the Board of Directors.

Section 3. Safekeeping of Assets. All assets other than those needed for general operating purposes Association or held under its control or the documents of title shall be deposited with or held by banks or trust companies authorized as depositories by the Board of Directors, under safekeeping agreements. The form of each agreement shall provide that the bank or trust company will remit the current income to the Treasurer and the assets may be withdrawn or the proceeds from the payment or sale of securities may be withdrawn only as provided by Section 4 of this article.

Section 4. Withdrawal of Securities. The Secretary shall notify the Treasurer and the depository of all actions of the Board of Directors which involve the withdrawal of assets from safekeeping. The depository shall be authorized upon receipt of such advice from the Secretary to deliver to the Treasurer or to the Treasurer's order assets covered by such action. The President or the chairman of the Executive Committee is authorized to act for either the Secretary or the Treasurer provided that the same officer may not act in both capacities in connection with the same transaction.

# ARTICLE IX INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

Section 1. The Association may indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding,

whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (other than an action by or in the right of the Association) by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or who is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust foundation or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contenders or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which he reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

Section 2. The Association may indemnify any person who was or is a party, or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the Association to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that he is or was a director, officer, employee, or agent of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association, or is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or foundation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with the defense or settlement of such action or suit, if he acted in good faith and in a manner he reasonably believed to be in, or not opposed to the best interests of the Association, and except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been adjudged to be liable for negligence or misconduct in the performance of his duty to the Association, unless, and only to the extent that the court in which such action of suit was brought shall determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability, but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity for such expenses as the court shall deem proper.

Section 3. To the extent that a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association has been successful, on the

merits or otherwise, in the defense of any action, suit or proceeding referred to in Sections (1) and (2) of this Article IX or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, he shall be indemnified against expenses (including attorneys' fees) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection therewith.

Section 4. Any indemnification under Sections (1) and (2) of this Article IX (unless ordered by a court) shall be made by the Association only as authorized in the specific case, upon a determination that indemnification of the director, officer, employee or agent is proper in the circumstances because he has met the applicable standard of conduct set forth in Sections (1) and 2) of this Article IX. Such determination shall be made (i) by the Board of Directors by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who were not parties to such action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) if such a quorum is not obtainable, or, even if obtainable, a quorum of disinterested directors so directs, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion.

Section 5. Expenses incurred in defending a civil or criminal action, suit or proceeding may be paid by the Association in advance of the final disposition of such action, suit or proceeding, as authorized by the Board of Directors in the specific case, upon receipt of an undertaking by or on behalf of the director, officer, employee, or agent to repay such amount, unless it shall ultimately be determined that he is entitled to be indemnified by the Association as authorized in this Article IX.

Section 6. The indemnification provided by this Article IX shall not be deemed exclusive of any other rights to which those seeking indemnification may be entitled under any agreement, vote of disinterested directors, or otherwise, both as to action in his official capacity and as to action in another capacity while holding such office, and shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director, officer, employee or agent, and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.

Section 7. The Association may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Association, or who is or was serving at the request of the Association as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation or foundation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in any such capacity, or arising out of his status as such, whether or not the Association would have the power to indemnify him against such

liability under the provisions of this Article IX.

# ARTICLE X FISCAL YEAR

Section 1. The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of July and end on the 30th day of June of each year, except that the Association's first year shall begin on the date of incorporation.

# ARTICLE XI CONFLICT OF INTEREST POLICY

Section 1. The purpose of the conflict of interest policy is to protect this tax-exempt Association's interest when it is contemplating entering into a transaction or arrangement that might benefit the private interest of an officer or director of the Organization or might result in a possible excess benefit transaction. This policy is intended to supplement but not replace any applicable state and federal laws governing conflict of interest applicable to nonprofit and charitable organizations.

#### Section 2. Definitions

- (A) Interested Person. Any director, principal officer, or member of a committee with governing board delegated powers, who has a direct or indirect financial interest, as defined below, is an interested person.
- (B) Financial Interest. A person has a financial interest if the person has, directly or indirectly, through business, investment, or family:
- (i) An ownership or investment interest in any entity with which the Association has a transaction or arrangement,
- (ii) A compensation arrangement with the Association or with any entity or individual with which the Association has a transaction or arrangement; or
- (iii) A potential ownership or investment interest in, or compensation arrangement with, any entity or individual with which the Association is negotiating a transaction or arrangement. Compensation includes direct and indirect remuneration as well as gifts or favors that are not insubstantial.
- (C) A financial interest is not necessarily a conflict of interest. Under Article XI, Section 3 (B), a person who has a financial interest may have a conflict of interest only if the appropriate governing board or committee decides that a conflict of

interest exists.

### Section 3. Procedures

### (A) Duty to Disclose

- (i) In connection with any actual or possible conflict of interest, an interested person must disclose the existence of the financial interest and be given the opportunity to disclose all material facts to the directors and members of committees with governing board delegated powers considering the proposed transaction or arrangement.
  - (B) Determining Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists
- (i) After disclosure of the financial interest and all material facts, and after any discussion with the interested person, he/she shall leave the governing board or committee meeting while the determination of a conflict of interest is discussed and voted upon. The remaining board or committee members shall decide if a conflict of interest exists.
  - (C) Procedures for Addressing the Conflict of Interest
- (i) An interested person may make a presentation at the governing board or committee meeting, but after the presentation, he/she shall leave the meeting during the discussion of, and the vote on, the transaction or arrangement involving the possible conflict of interest.
- (ii) The chairperson of the governing board or committee shall, if appropriate, appoint a disinterested person or committee to investigate alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement.
- (iii) After exercising due diligence, the governing board or committee shall determine whether the Association can obtain with reasonable efforts a more advantageous transaction or arrangement from a person or entity that would not give rise to a conflict of interest.
- (iv) If a more advantageous transaction or arrangement is not reasonably possible under circumstances not producing a conflict of interest, the governing board or committee shall determine by a majority vote of the disinterested directors whether the transaction or arrangement is in the Association's best interest, for its own benefit, and whether it is fair and reasonable. In conformity with the above determination it shall make its decision as to whether to enter into the transaction or arrangement.
  - (D) Violations of the Conflicts of Interest Policy
    - (i) If the governing board or committee has

reasonable cause to believe a member has failed to disclose actual or possible conflicts of interest, it shall inform the member of the basis for such belief and afford the member an opportunity to explain the alleged failure to disclose. If, after hearing the member's response and after making further investigation as warranted by the circumstances, the governing board or committee determines the member has failed to disclose an actual or possible conflict of interest, it shall take appropriate disciplinary and corrective action.

### Section 4. Records of Proceedings

- (A) The minutes of the governing board and all committees with board delegated powers shall contain:
- (i) The names of the persons who disclosed or otherwise were found to have a financial interest in connection with an actual or possible conflict of interest, the nature of the financial interest, any action taken to determine whether a conflict of interest was present, and the governing board's or committee's decision as to whether a conflict of interest in fact existed.
- (ii) The names of the persons who were present for discussions and votes relating to the transaction or arrangement, the content of the discussion, including any alternatives to the proposed transaction or arrangement, and a record of any votes taken in connection with the proceedings.

#### Section 5. Compensation

- (A) A voting member of the governing board who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Association for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member's compensation.
- (B) A voting member of any committee whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Association for services is precluded from voting on matters pertaining to that member's compensation.
- (C) No voting member of the governing board or any committee whose jurisdiction includes compensation matters and who receives compensation, directly or indirectly, from the Association, either individually or collectively, is prohibited from providing information to any committee regarding compensation.

#### Section 6. Annual Statements

(A) Each director, principal officer and member of a

committee with governing board delegated powers shall annually sign a statement which affirms such person:

- i. Has received a copy of the conflicts of interest policy,
  - ii. Has read and understands the policy,
  - iii. Has agreed to comply with the policy, and
- iv. Understands the Association is charitable and in order to maintain its federal tax exemption it must engage primarily in activities which accomplish one or more of its tax-exempt purposes.

#### Section 7. Periodic Reviews

- (A) To ensure the Association operates in a manner consistent with charitable purposes and does not engage in activities that could jeopardize its tax-exempt status, periodic reviews shall be conducted. The periodic reviews shall, at a minimum, include the following subjects:
- i. Whether compensation arrangements and benefits are reasonable, based on competent survey information, and the result of arm's length bargaining.
- ii. Whether partnerships, joint ventures, and arrangements with management organizations conform to the Association's written policies, are properly recorded, reflect reasonable investment or payments for goods and services, further charitable purposes and do not result in inurement, impermissible private benefit or in an excess benefit transaction.

#### Section 8. Use of Outside Experts

(A) When conducting the periodic reviews as provided for in Article X, Section 7, the Association may, but need not, use outside advisors. If outside experts are used, their use shall not relieve the governing board of its responsibility for ensuring periodic reviews are conducted.

# ARTICLE XII PARLIAMENTARY PROCEDURE

Section 1. All questions of parliamentary procedure at any of the meetings of the Board of Directors, members or committees shall be governed by ROBERT RULES OF ORDER, LATEST EDITION.

### ARTICLE XIII GOVERNING LAW

Section 1. The law of the State of Illinois and, specifically, the Illinois General Not For Profit Corporation Act,

as now enacted or as hereafter amended, shall govern this Association.

ARTICLE XIV
MISCELLANEOUS

 $\underline{\text{Section 1}}$ . As used in these By-Laws, the masculine shall include the feminine.

Adopted August 4574, 2021, by the Board of Directors of Illinois Track & Cross Country Coaches Association.

Mark Anderson

Its: President

Kolly/Hass

Kelly*(*Hass

Its: Secretary